








From: Liley, Stewart, DGF
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: FW: NMF&LB Position on Bear and Cougar Rule
Date: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 11:48:24 AM
Attachments: NMF&LB Position on Bear and Cougar Rule.pdf
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Stewart Liley, Chief
Wildlife Management Division
New Mexico Game and Fish
One Wildlife Way
Santa Fe, NM 87507
Ph: 505-476-8038
stewart.liley@state.nm.us

 
Conserving New Mexico’s Wildlife for Future Generations
 
CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail, including all attachments is for the sole use of the intended recipient[s] and
may contain confidential and/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, copying, disclosure or
distribution is prohibited, unless specifically provided under the New Mexico Inspection of Public Records Act. If you
are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender at once and destroy all copies of this message.
 

From: Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF 
Sent: Thursday, August 15, 2019 8:34 PM
To: Liley, Stewart, DGF
Subject: Fwd: NMF&LB Position on Bear and Cougar Rule
 

FYH.

Roberta

-------- Original Message --------
Subject: NMF&LB Position on Bear and Cougar Rule
From: Tanner Anderson
Sent: Thursday, August 15, 2019, 6:02 PM
To: "Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF" <R.Salazar-Henry@state.nm.us>,DAVID SOULES

CC:

Good Evening,
 
Attached are written comments from the New Mexico Farm & Livestock Bureau in regard to the
Bear and Cougar rule. Please give me a call if you have any questions or concerns.
 
Thank you,
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Tanner Anderson

 

 



From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: opinion
Date: Tuesday, August 13, 2019 3:27:06 PM

----- Forwarded Message -----
From: Dorothy Noe 
To: DGF-Bear-ougar-Rules@state.nm.us <DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us>
Sent: Tuesday, August 13, 2019, 3:03:01 PM MDT
Subject: opinion

I am another New Mexico resident (Placitas) who is concerned about the viability of
the state's large wildlife.

Please consider the following:

1. Eliminate ALL recreational cougar trapping on both state and private trust
land. 

    2.  Reduce annual cougar kill limits as a viable gene pool is necessary for the
animal's survival.Undo the double bag limits for cougars unless there is a
proven danger to human of livestock.

    3. Reduce annual bear kill limits as the population is difficult to count and
needs a diverse gene pool for survival.

    4.  Unless there is a threat to human of livestock, the cougar kill limit should
be no more than two.

Thank you,

Dorothy Noe
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From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Opposition to proposal from NMGF to ban lion trapping in NM
Date: Thursday, August 29, 2019 7:58:44 AM

From: jayson grover
Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 10:51 AM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez,
Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF; jayson grover
Subject: [EXT] Opposition to proposal from NMGF to ban lion trapping in NM
 
Good Morning NM State Game Commission,

I recently listened in (via webcast) to one of your public meetings.  I was a bit un-impressed
with the logic the NM Dept. of Game and Fish gave for proposing to remove trapping as a
means of legal take of mountain lions.  The logic and reasoning given in the meeting I
witnessed was that only a few people participate in it.  I saw no scientific reasons to justify the
change.  I do not trap lions myself, but believe that others should be able to do so if needed. 
Please consider the following points as you consider this proposed rule change.

Lion Trapping has not negatively affected the population
During public meeting NMGF stated Lion Trapping does not threaten public health or
safety
According to NMGF statistics, Lion numbers continue to rise yet harvest rates have not
met the take limit.
Lion trapping was only recently made legal (I believe since 2016).  Few in the state
currently have the knowledge to attempt it but there are many wanting to and
beginning to learn.  Participation will continue to increase with time, but remember too
that lions are one of the hardest animals to successfully trap, and to do so takes a
considerable amount of time and effort.  I am confident that there is currently quite a
bit of participation thought the harvest numbers may not suggest it yet.  Our local
sportsmen and women are still learning how to best go about it.
Eliminating Lion trapping will further burden the NMGF department budget by requiring
the department to contract with private individuals at an inflated rate for the removal of
problematic Lions.
With department statistics showing Lion numbers on the rise it would be irresponsible
for NMGF to eliminate a method of harvest. This will potentially cause a negative
impact to our wild ungulate herds as well as be a financial hardship to the department.
Try to understand the motivations behind lion trapping.  There is little to no value in
their fur so I assure you it is not economics.  Those I know who do try to trap lions
do so to reduce livestock depredation and/or pressure on wild ungulate populations in
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areas of high lion density.  Some are motivated by the extreme challenge and the
opportunity to connect with the natural world in a way that cannot be understood by
someone who has never participated in the activity themselves. 
Bending to social pressure will only encourage for additional pressures to go against
scientific biology and factual statistics.

I would also like to encourage and respectfully ask you to focus on the following:

Encourage NMGF to educate the public regarding trapping and all other forms of
harvesting animals and its important contribution to the ecosystem.
Improve the Trapping FACTS, information on the NMGF website to improve public
perception and combat the falsehoods spread by media as a result of one sided
reporting.
Improve public understanding of the value of the North American Wildlife Management
Model. 

Thank you for your time and consideration,

Jayson L. Grover, P.E.



From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Proposed changes to Bear and cougar rules
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:30:38 AM

​Please see discussion below.

From: Soules, David, DGF
Sent: Saturday, September 28, 2019 4:47 PM
To: cal jaeger
Subject: Re: Proposed changes to Bear and cougar rules
 
​Mr. Jaeger:

The most recent data for New Mexico indicates that the average age for a sow to have her
first cubs is less than five years of age.  The New Mexico Game and Fish department has also
initiated, and continues to utilize, a highly effective means of gathering population density
information on bears in New Mexico.  While that information in incomplete, and there are
plans to repeat the study in areas that were previously monitored, the study does not support
an arbitrary sow limit of 100 statewide.

I appreciate your input.

David Soules

From: cal jaeger 
Sent: Sunday, September 22, 2019 2:41 PM
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Cc: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez,
Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Proposed changes to Bear and cougar rules
 
I hope that the members of the NMGFD/NMGFC will adopt a reasonable, conservative bear
management program.  Bears in New Mexico are one of the most vulnerable species in the state
because of their low reproductive rates.  I am asking you to review the current bear sow hunt limit
and adjust the current number to a lower number.

The current sow limit is 318 for the next four years yet the harvest average for the last four years is
180. The average age of sows being killed is 6.5 years and in New Mexico sows normally have their
first cub at 5.7 years.  For a healthy bear population to survive in New Mexico, I propose that no
more than 100 sows (including depredation) be killed statewide in future harvests until harvested
sow ages show that they are rebounding to viable age ranges.

I was not aware until I read a letter to the editor (Abq Journal, 17 Sep 2019) from Craig McClure
(Black Bear Bureau) that New Mexico allowed killing of bear cubs that are 1 year old or less.  Also I
did not realize that hunters were allowed to use dogs to hunt down and trap the bears or cougars
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and then use telemetry to locate and shoot them like they were in a carnival arcade.  This is hunting
??  No, this blood sport and something that I believe most New Mexicans would not support.  I urge
you to prohibit the killing of bear cubs and the use of dogs to hunt bears or cougars. 

Cal Jaeger

 

 



From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: reducing the hunt limit for black bear sows
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:59:58 AM

From: cal jaeger 
Sent: Sunday, September 15, 2019 4:20 PM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] reducing the hunt limit for black bear sows
 
Commissioner Jimmy Bates
 
My wife and I have lived in New Mexico for almost 40 years.  We particularly love the diverse
wildlife.  I hope that you and the members of the NMSGC will adopt a reasonable, conservative bear
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
first cub at 5.7 years.  For a healthy bear population to survive in New Mexico, I proposed that no
more than 100 sows (including depredation) be killed statewide in future harvests until harvested
sow ages show that they are rebounding to viable age ranges.

Thank you for your service to New Mexico by serving on the NMSGC.  I know you are a hunter and
fisherman so I am sure you understand the importance of maintaining the proper balance between
current animal populations and hunting limits.

Best Regards,

BG Cal Jaeger 
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From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Reducing the hunt limit for black bear sows
Date: Monday, September 16, 2019 2:56:59 PM

From: cal jaeger
Sent: Sunday, September 15, 2019 4:26 PM
To: Lopez, Tirzio, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Reducing the hunt limit for black bear sows
 
Commissioner Tirzio Lopez

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
fisherman and have considerable knowledge of NM lands and wildlife so I am sure you understand
the importance of maintaining the proper balance between current animal populations and hunting
limits.

Best Regards,
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From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Subject: Reducing hunt limit for black bear sows
Date: Friday, September 20, 2019 12:56:26 PM

From: Judy JAEGER 
Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 3:09 PM
To: Lopez, Tirzio, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Subject: Reducing hunt limit for black bear sows
 
Subject:  Reducing hunt limit for black bear sows

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
first cub at 5.7 years.  For a healthy bear population to survive in New Mexico, I am asking that no
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
Judy Jaeger
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From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Subject: Reducing hunt limit for black bear sows
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:49:25 AM

From: Judy JAEGER 
Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 3:06 PM
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

Thank you for your service to New Mexico by serving on the NMSGC.   I know you are a hunter and
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
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:29:13 AM

​Please see discussion below.

From: Soules, David, DGF
Sent: Monday, September 30, 2019 8:51 PM
To: Judy JAEGER
Subject: Re: Subject: Reducing hunt limit for black bear sows
 
Hello Judy:

I have lived in NM for over 55 years, and I too love our wildlife and public lands.  As a new
commissioner, I have learned a great deal about bear populations and bear management in
NM in the last several months.  While our means of estimating bear population numbers is
imperfect, I am convinced that NM is doing an admirable job of obtaining scientifically sound
estimates of bear populations, and is following a conservative means of establishing harvest
limits.  Of note, the department has informed me that their most recent data indicates that
the average age when sows first produce cubs in NM is less than five years of age.  I know that
is different than the data from previous studies, but as you note, it is important.  I would also
like to point out that I have received numerous emails requesting a limit of 100 sows, but no
one has provided a scientific basis for that number.  I believe the current recommendations
for NM bear harvest is using best available science and it is one of the most progressive
approaches in the United States for monitoring and managing our bear populations.

Thank you very much for your input and for your concern and efforts to look out for the
well being of our wildlife.  I truly appreciate your involvement.

Best regards,
David Soules

From: Judy JAEGER 
Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 3:11 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
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

mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us


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

Thank you for your service to New Mexico by serving on the NMSGC.  I am sure your considerable
experience in wildlife conservation is invaluable to the commission and you understand the
importance of maintaining the proper balance between current animal populations and hunting
limits.

 

Best Regards,
Judy Jaeger

 
 



From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Subject: Reducing hunt limit for black bear sows
Date: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 4:32:38 PM

From: Judy JAEGER 
Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 3:02 PM
To: Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF
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

Thank you for your service to New Mexico by serving on the NMSGC. 

Best Regards,
Judy Jaeger
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From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: FW: What is the Departments position regarding the NM Game Commissions proposed rule change on the

trapping of mountain lions?
Date: Monday, August 12, 2019 3:47:53 PM

From: jayson grover  
Sent: Monday, August 12, 2019 8:55 AM
To: ISPA, DGF
Subject: What is the Departments position regarding the NM Game Commissions proposed rule change
on the trapping of mountain lions?
 
Good morning NM Game and Fish Department. 
 
Please advise as to your Departments position regarding the NM Game Commissions
proposed rule change regarding the trapping of mountain lions. 
 
I am not a lion trapper, but am an avid outdoorsmen.  There is no scientific reason to ban
trapping of cougars, especially when trapping helps mitigate the loss to livestock and
contributes to sound wildlife management practices and is supported by science.  I
hope the commission will vote against this rule. Trapping plays an important role in
wildlife management.
 
Although trapping does not represent a large proportion of cougars taken, the state has
been unable to meet harvest targets in many years. Cougars are increasingly involved
in dangerous interactions with pets and even people, and are a natural predator for
many wildlife species, including wild sheep, elk and mule deer; which makes the
decision to ban trapping highly questionable.
 
New Mexico’s political leadership is clearly targeting public-land hunters and
trappers.
 
According to the New Mexico Department of Game & Fish (NMDGF), there are
between 3,000 and 4,000 cougars in the state. Cougar harvest numbers, which are set
by the New Mexico State Game Commission, have not reached state maximum
thresholds since 2016. As a result, cougar numbers continue to increase and are
becoming a greater threat to people, pets, livestock and populations of prey species.
 
In 2015, the United States Department of Agriculture found that cougars were the
third largest threat to cattle in New Mexico. Banning trapping on private and public
lands will likely increase livestock depredation by cougars because New Mexico
ranchers often use state trust lands for grazing.
 
DO NOT PUT POLTICS ABOVE SCIENCE
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Thank you,
 
Jayson L. Grover, P.E.
 



From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fwd: [EXT] Bear and Lion rule - letter from David L. Heft
Date: Wednesday, October 02, 2019 7:27:32 AM
Attachments: DOC100219-10022019071230.pdf

ATT00001.htm

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Bates, Jimmy" 
Date: October 2, 2019 at 7:24:40 AM MDT
To: 
Subject: [EXT] Bear and Lion rule - letter from David L. Heft

-----Original Message-----
From: 

Sent: Wednesday, October 2, 2019 7:13 AM
To: Bates, Jimmy 
Subject: Send data from MFP07476513 10/02/2019 07:12

Scanned from MFP07476513
Date:10/02/2019 07:12
Pages:2
Resolution:200x200 DPI
----------------------------------------
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From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fwd: [EXT] Bear Quotas and Cougar Trapping Ban
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 3:24:35 PM

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone

-------- Original message --------
From: Adam Sapp 
Date: 9/17/19 10:40 PM (GMT-07:00)
To: "Soules, David, DGF" <David.Soules@state.nm.us>, "Cramer, Gail, DGF"
<Gail.Cramer@state.nm.us>, "Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF" <Jeremy.Vesbach@state.nm.us>,
"Bates, Jimmy, DGF" <Jimmy.Bates@state.nm.us>, "Prukop, Joanna, DGF"
<Joanna.Prukop@state.nm.us>, "Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF" <R.Salazar-
Henry@state.nm.us>, "Lopez, Tirzio, DGF" <Tirzio.Lopez@state.nm.us>
Subject: [EXT] Bear Quotas and Cougar Trapping Ban

Ladies and Gentlemen of the State Game Commission,

I’d like to start by thanking you for your service in protecting and managing the wildlife and
wild places of New Mexico on behalf of its residents, and continuing to support sustainable
and ethical use of its wildlife resources. 

Now to the point. 

First, I would like to express my opposition to the proposed ban on cougar trapping, as I feel it
is not motivated from a scientific basis or management scheme, but instead motivated by a
short sighted emotional argument that fails to maturely address the issue of cougar
management as a part of wildlife management as a whole. The only purpose that I can see for
this ban is to chip at the rights of NM hunters and trappers for the sake of political
correctness?

 Second I would like to express my opposition to a similar proposal from the New Mexico
Bear  Watch group members to lower the Sow mortality quota based on their distrust of the
science based management plan put forth by the game and fish department regarding black
bears. As a bear hunter I count on this hunt as an ethical source of food for me my family,
especially in years when I’m not fortunate enough to draw, or harvest other big game. I
support reasonable harvest quotas based on sound scientific population estimation techniques -
not based on the emotional burden of people who either don’t understand where food comes
from or think they are justified in enforcing their values on others.

Thank you for your time and your consideration of my concerns. 

Sincerely,
Adam Sapp
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From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fwd: [EXT] Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United States
Date: Friday, September 13, 2019 5:10:07 PM
Attachments: HSUS-NMDGF-BB-Regulations-9-13-2019-Final.pdf

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone

-------- Original message --------
From: Wendy Keefover 
Date: 9/13/19 3:37 PM (GMT-07:00)
To: "Lopez, Tirzio, DGF" <Tirzio.Lopez@state.nm.us>
Subject: [EXT] Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United States

Dear Com. Lopez,
 
Attached please find comments by the Humane Society of the United States concerning black bear
management in New Mexico.
 
Given the paucity of black bear data in New Mexico,, we request that the black bear quota revert to
335 from 804. The number 804 has no basis in sound science and is far greater than hunters,
predator control agents and others achieve annually, according to the NMDGF’s own mortality data.
 
Black bears cannot withstand heavy persecution – they are super slow to reproduce. A female black
bear in New Mexico doesn’t begin reproduction until she is almost six years old, and then she will
produce only a few cubs in her lifetime – many of whom do not survive their first year.
 
The data show that bears are valued by most New Mexicans. Most appreciate bears’ sentience and
 intrinsic values—their devotion to their cubs and ability to maintain the biological diversity of their
forest ecosystems.
 
Please do not hesitate to reach out if you need access to studies we cited, or if you have questions or
comments!
 
Thank you for reviewing these comments! 
 
 
Sincerely yours,
 
 
Wendy Keefover
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September 13, 2019 
 
 
Joanna Prukop, Madam Chair 
Michael Sloane, Director 
New Mexico Department of Game and Fish  
PO Box 25112 Santa Fe, NM 87504 
DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us 


 
 
 
 


 


 
 
Re: 2020-2024 black bear rule 


 
 
Dear Madam Chair Prukop and Director Sloane:  


 
On behalf of the Humane Society of the United States and our supporters in New Mexico, we 
submit the following comments on New Mexico Department of Game and Fish’s (NMDGF’s) 
Proposed Rule on black bear (Ursus americanus) hunting for the 2020 to 2024 seasons. The staff’s 
Proposed Rule recommends no changes to the previous rule but allows for a quota of 804 black 
bears with a female sublimit of 318 (representing 40 percent of the total). Given the recent 
droughts and fires in New Mexico and the worsening climate and extinction crises,1 we request 
that the quota be reduced to 335—the number used by the agency in recent memory—given that 
New Mexico is operating in the dark about the extent of its likely tiny black bear population—but 
reliant on a non-peer-reviewed study with little veracity. We further request that the agency end 
the practice of hounding bears with packs of dogs because of myriad cruelty problems. 
 
1. New Mexico’s intelligent and familial black bears are susceptible to overkill 
 
Large-bodied carnivores such as black bears are sparsely populated across vast areas—and in arid 
climates, it is even more pronounced. Bears invest in few offspring, provide extended parental 
care to their young, have a tendency towards infanticide, and bears limit reproduction. In light of 
these biological factors, they rely on social stability to maintain resiliency.2  
 
 
 
 


 
1 U.S. Global Change Research Program, "Impacts, Risks, and Adaptation in the United States: Fourth 
National Climate Assessment, Volume II " in https://nca2018.globalchange.gov/chapter/front-matter-
about/#, ed. D.R. Reidmiller et al. (Washington, D.C., 2018); Intergovernmental Science-Policy 
Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES), "Nature’s Dangerous Decline 
‘Unprecedented’ Species Extinction Rates ‘Accelerating’: Current global response insufficient. 
‘Transformative changes’ needed to restore and protect nature; Opposition from vested interests can 
be overcome for public good.  Most comprehensive assessment of its kind; 1,000,000 species 
threatened with extinction," news release, May 6, 2019, 2019. 
2 J. L. Weaver, P. C. Paquet, and L. F. Ruggiero, "Resilience and conservation of large carnivores in the 
Rocky Mountains," Conservation Biology 10, no. 4 (Aug 1996), <Go to ISI>://A1996VC10300014; A. D. 
Wallach et al., "What is an apex predator?," Oikos 124, no. 11 (Nov 2015), 
https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.01977, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000363866900005. 
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Because of erratic weather events from the climate crisis including late season frosts or droughts, natural foods are 
increasingly unavailable to bears, and in one study area of a heavily monitored bear population in Colorado, 57 percent 
of females declined because of human-caused mortalities from vehicle collisions, trophy hunting and predator 
control—that would not have been detected by wildlife managers alone without the study in place.3 


 
For all of these reasons, it makes no sense to hunt black bears and especially at such high levels, and in New Mexico 
with virtually no data. Bears are capable of self-regulation.4 Moreover, highly sentient, black bears have the largest brain 
size of any carnivore, and they spend prolonged periods raising and nurturing young.5 Bears know when they are 
hunted, and change behaviors, particularly when they need to concentrate on feeding to survive hibernation; instead 
they have to hide from hunters.6 


 
Late to mature, females do not reach breeding age until they are between 4 and 6 years old, and in New Mexico, the 
mean age of females to reproduce for the first time is 5.7 years.7 An average female produces two cubs in her first litter, 
and she will give birth to an average of three cubs in successive litters. Bears have, however, extended intervals between 
litters, averaging two to three years between them, but more if there are droughts or other stochastic weather events.8 
Thus, bears have a slow reproductive potential,9 and are highly susceptible to overkill.10  
 
 
 
 
 


 
3 Jared S. Laufenberg et al., "Compounding effects of human development and a natural food shortage on a black bear population 
along a human development-wildland interface," Biological Conservation 224 (2018/08/01/ 2018), 
https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.05.004, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320717317093. 
4 Wallach et al., "What is an apex predator?." 
5 Black bears are highly sentient. See e.g., John L. Gittleman, "Carnivore Life History Patterns: Allometric, Phylogenetic, and 
Ecological Associations," 127, no. 6 (1986), https://doi.org/10.1086/284523, 
https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/abs/10.1086/284523; T. E. Reimchen and M. A. Spoljaric, "Right paw foraging bias in wild black 
bear (Ursus americanus kermodei)," Laterality: Asymmetries of Body, Brain and Cognition 16, no. 4 (2011/07/01 2011), 
https://doi.org/10.1080/1357650X.2010.485202, https://doi.org/10.1080/1357650X.2010.485202; Jennifer Vonk, Stephanie E. Jett, and 
Kelly W. Mosteller, "Concept formation in American black bears, Ursus americanus," Animal Behaviour 84, no. 4 (2012/10/01/ 2012), 
https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.07.020, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003347212003284; 
Jennifer Vonk and Michael J. Beran, "Bears ‘count’ too: quantity estimation and comparison in black bears, Ursus americanus," 
Animal Behaviour 84, no. 1 (2012/07/01/ 2012), https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.05.001, 
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003347212002126; Rachel Mazur and Victoria Seher, "Socially learned foraging 
behaviour in wild black bears, Ursus americanus," Animal Behaviour 75, no. 4 (2008/04/01/ 2008), 
https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2007.10.027, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003347208000213; 
M. Cattet et al., "An evaluation of long-term capture effects in ursids: Implications for wildlife welfare and research," Article, Journal 
of Mammalogy 89, no. 4 (Aug 2008), https://doi.org/10.1644/08-mamm-a-095.1, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000258765000019. 
6 A. Ordiz et al., "Do bears know they are being hunted?," Biological Conservation 152 (Aug 2012), 
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocom.2012.04.006, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000307088200003. 
7 D. L. Garshelis and H. Hristienko, "State and provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus assessments of 
population trend," Ursus 17, no. 1 (2006), <Go to ISI>://WOS:000237130100001; C. M. Costello et al., "A Study of Black Bear Ecology 
in New Mexico with Models for Population Dynamics and Habitat Suitability: Final Report: Federal Aid in Wildlife Restoration 
Project W-131-R.," New Mexico Department of Game and Fish  (2001). 
8 Craig McLaughlin, "Black bear assessment and strategic plan," Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife  (1999); S. Dobey 
et al., "Ecology of Florida black bears in the Okefenokee-Osceola ecosystem," Wildlife Monographs, no. 158 (Jan 2005), <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000228658000001. Garshelis and Hristienko, "State and provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus 
assessments of population trend." 
9 Dobey et al., "Ecology of Florida black bears in the Okefenokee-Osceola ecosystem." 
10 Garshelis and Hristienko, "State and provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus assessments of population 
trend." 
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2. NMDGF has a poor idea of the size of the New Mexico bear population 
 
NMDGF has not accurately counted New Mexico’s bears or determined their population trend. In 2015, the agency 
discarded all bear studies conducted in New Mexico,11 including an eight-year study conducted by the Hornocker 
Wildlife Institute in conjunction with NMDGF and the New Mexico Cooperative Fish and Wildlife Research Unit.12 The 
agency then took an unpublished student thesis, Gould (undated), now Gould et al. (2016), which was conducted in 
New Mexico’s best bear habitats, to determine bear densities across the rest of the state13—to justify a quota increase 
to 804 from the prior quota of 335, which had been based on Costello et al. (2001). Fig. 1. Because the quota of 804 was 
never supported by sound science, it should be reverted to 335. 
 
The density numbers in Gould et al. (2016) rival and even exceed bear densities found by Welfelt et al. (2019) in the 
Northern Cascades of Washington,14 which is biologically impossible because those habitats are far wetter and more 
productive than the xeric habitats of New Mexico. Figs. 1, 2.  
 
 


Fig. 1  
Density estimates bears/100 km2 


  Costello et al. 
(2001) 


Gould et al. (2016) 


N. Sangre de Cristo  
17 


21.86 (95% CI 17.83 - 26.80) 


S. Sangre de Cristo 19.74 (95% CI 13.77 - 28.30) 


Sandia ND 25.75 (95% CI 13.22 - 50.14 
N. Sacramento  


9.4 
21.86 (95% CI 17.83 - 26.80) 


S. Sacramento 16.55 (95% CI 11.64 - 23.53) 
 
 
 


 


 
11 Conrad S. Zack, Bruce T. Milne, and William C. Dunn, "Southern Oscillation Index as an Indicator of Encounters between Humans 
and Black Bears in New Mexico," Wildlife Society Bulletin (1973-2006) 31, no. 2 (2003), https://doi.org/10.2307/3784333, 
http://www.jstor.org/stable/3784333; D. P. Onorato et al., "Phylogeographic patterns within a metapopulation of black bears (Ursus 
americanus) in the American Southwest," Article, Journal of Mammalogy 85, no. 1 (Feb 2004), https://doi.org/10.1644/1545-
1542(2004)085<0140:ppwamo>2.0.co;2, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000220140300022; C. M. Costello et al., "Sex-biased natal dispersal and 
inbreeding avoidance in American black bears as revealed by spatial genetic analyses," Molecular Ecology 17, no. 21 (Nov 2008), 
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2008.03930.x, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000260345200012; C. M. Costello et al., "Reliability of the 
cementum annuli technique for estimating age of black bears in New Mexico," Wildlife Society Bulletin 32, no. 1 (Spr 2004), 
https://doi.org/10.2193/0091-7648(2004)32[169:rotcat]2.0.co;2, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000221035300019; Cecily M. Costello et al., 
"Relationship of Variable Mast Production to American Black Bear Reproductive Parameters in New Mexico," Ursus 14, no. 1 (2003), 
https://doi.org/10.2307/3872951, http://www.jstor.org/stable/3872951; R. M. Inman et al., "Denning chronology and design of 
effective bear management units," Journal of Wildlife Management 71, no. 5 (Jul 2007), https://doi.org/10.2193/2006-252, <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000248027800012. 
12 Costello et al., "A Study of Black Bear Ecology in New Mexico with Models for Population Dynamics and Habitat Suitability: Final 
Report: Federal Aid in Wildlife Restoration Project W-131-R.." 
13 M.J. Gould et al., "Estimating density of American black bears (Ursus americanus) in New Mexico using noninvastive genetic 
sampling-based capture-recapture methods," 
http://www.wildlife.state.nm.us/download/hunting/species/bear/publications/Estimating-Black-Bear-Density-in-New-Mexico-Gould-
etal-2016.pdf  (2016). 
14 Lindsay Welfelt, Richard Beausoleil, and Robert Wielgus, "Factors Associated with black bear density and implications for 
management," The Journal of Wildlife Management  (08/25 2019), https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21744. 
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Fig. 2 
Density estimates of bears/100 km2 


  Welfelt et al. (2019) 


E. Northern Cascades 19.2 (95% CI 15.0 - 24.7) 


W. Northern Cascades 20.1 (95% 17.5 - 23.2) 


 
The Cougar Management Guidelines (2005) provides an applicable warning: Density estimates from studies conducted 
in optimal quality habitat where animals are abundant can only be extrapolated cautiously to larger areas (including 
regions or entire states). Yet, NMDGF’s took Gould et al. (2015) and extrapolated it to larger areas, and thereby failed 
to accommodate changes in vegetation, land use, topography, and management history.15  
 
Welfelt et al. (2019) in their study of Washington bears found bear densities range widely by region, but managers had 
over-estimated the population of bears in western Washington—including cubs—by 50 percent.16 The implications for 
New Mexico are stark, given that black bear habitat in New Mexico is also varied by region.17 They also found that 
human density negatively correlates with bear density—even in prime bear habitats—again leading the wildlife agency 
to overestimate the bear population.18 
 
NMDGF’s black bear proposals offer neither population nor trend analysis, measurable objectives, evidence, 
transparency or sign of an independent review, the hallmarks of sound science.19 Instead, we and the Commission are 
left with a flimsy and entirely unaccountable approach, emblematic of NMDGF’s unscientific black bear management 
policy and protocols designed to elevate bear killing but not conservation.20 NMDGF’s failure to rely on good quality 
population and trend data is a concern, if this is the foundation upon which hunting objectives are set. A study of states’ 
trend and population data showed about half of the states miscalculated population trends. Garshelis and Hristienko 
(2006) write that many state wildlife managers fail to adequately investigate population sizes and trends, but rather 
rely on guesses.21 
 
To emphasize: black bears can only sustain light losses to their population from all causes and amount between six and 
ten percent of their population.22 Yet the numbers of bears in New Mexico remains a mystery. The quotas are set so 
high that they are never achieved. In fact, all sources of mortality never come to 800 per year, except in 2013 when 778 
bears were killed—likely at an unsustainable level. Fig. 3.  
 


 
15 Cougar Management Guidelines, Cougar Management Guidelines (Bainbridge Island, WA: WildFutures, 2005)., p. 47-8. 
16 Welfelt, Beausoleil, and Wielgus, "Factors Associated with black bear density and implications for management." 
17 Zack, Milne, and Dunn, "Southern Oscillation Index as an Indicator of Encounters between Humans and Black Bears in New 
Mexico."; Onorato et al., "Phylogeographic patterns within a metapopulation of black bears (Ursus americanus) in the American 
Southwest."; Costello et al., "Sex-biased natal dispersal and inbreeding avoidance in American black bears as revealed by spatial 
genetic analyses."; Costello et al., "Reliability of the cementum annuli technique for estimating age of black bears in New Mexico."; 
Costello et al., "Relationship of Variable Mast Production to American Black Bear Reproductive Parameters in New Mexico."; Inman 
et al., "Denning chronology and design of effective bear management units." 
18 Welfelt, Beausoleil, and Wielgus, "Factors Associated with black bear density and implications for management." 
19 Garshelis and Hristienko, "State and provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus assessments of population 
trend."; Kyle A. Artelle et al., "Hallmarks of science missing from North American wildlife management," Science Advances 4, no. 3 
(2018), https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aao0167, http://advances.sciencemag.org/content/advances/4/3/eaao0167.full.pdf. 
20 Artelle et al., "Hallmarks of science missing from North American wildlife management."; Garshelis and Hristienko, "State and 
provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus assessments of population trend." 
21  Garshelis and Hristienko, "State and provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus assessments of population 
trend.", p. 6 
22 Lindsay Suzanne Welfelt, "Black bear population dynamics in the North Cascades" (Doctor of Philosophy Dissertation, 
Washington State University, 2018), https://search.proquest.com/openview/ec18d4337882347c86cd2eeb2a69ebd0/1.pdf?pq-
origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y. 
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3. NMDGF’s quotas may be too drastic and will result in the overkill of New Mexico’s beloved black bears 
 
A safe offtake amount for black bears is between six and ten percent of the population; more than that is simply 
additive mortality because of harms to the female component of the population.23 In a Washington study, where 
biologists used methods of capture-recapture and also collected hair samples to test bears’ DNA (to discover 
emigrating and immigrating animals), authors compared the two areas in order to evaluate black bear survival. In both 
areas, despite agency predictions that the bear population was growing, it was not. Authors found that the “maximum 
sustainable hunter harvest” was indicated by the “intrinsic growth rate of 6-10% [which] was exceeded in both areas.”24 
To emphasize, a total safe offtake amount, including hunting, predator control, poaching, roadkill and other, for black 
bears is likely only six to ten percent of the entire subpopulation because of the risk to the female component of the 
population.25 This study is directly applicable to New Mexico.  
 
Despite having little sense of its population,26 each year in New Mexico hundreds of bears die at the hands of trophy 
hunters and predator control agents—some using packs of hounds—including 564 individuals who were legally hunted 
in 2018. Fig. 1.  
 


 
23 Welfelt, "Black bear population dynamics in the North Cascades." 
24 Welfelt, "Black bear population dynamics in the North Cascades," 38. 
25 Welfelt, "Black bear population dynamics in the North Cascades." 
26 Garshelis and Hristienko, "State and provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus assessments of population 
trend." Rather than a population or trend study (Garshelis and Hristienko (2006).  
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NMDGF’s current proposal is also certainly not in the public’s interest in wildlife management.27 New Mexicans love 
their bears.28 Bears are also valued for their considerable ecological and aesthetic purposes.29 They are one of the most 
photographed and watched animals in Yellowstone National Park.30  
 
Brand new studies find that most Americans do not support black bear hunting.31 Manfredo et al. (2018) found that 
only 31 percent of New Mexicans support the killing of a black bear even if it has attacked someone.32 Therefore, we are 
forced to surmise NMDGF proposes  to continue to hammer the black bear population under the false pretenses that 
doing so will alleviate human-bear conflicts and to provide opportunity to trophy hunters to kill sentient black bears for 
photo opportunities and to obtain and display bear parts, including, heads, hides, claws and capes.33   
 
4.  NMDGF’s proposals fail to consider poaching, wounding and other human-caused mortalities to bears 
 
In a heavily monitored bear population, state bear biologists with the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife 
reported that approximately 20 percent of their study bears were killed by poachers and even more died from wounding 
losses who were not accounted for by hunters to the state.34  
 
New Mexico must factor poaching and wounding loss metrics and total known mortalities into any reasonable quota. 
Allowing a cull of a species invariably induces and increases the numbers of animals killed by poachers.35 In short, 
NMDGF must consider the massive but unknown numbers of human-induced mortalities as a result of vehicle 


 
27 Michael P. Nelson et al., "An Inadequate Construct?  North American Model:  What's Missing, What's Needed," The Wildlife 
Professional, no. Summer 2011 (2011); Kelly A. George et al., "Changes in attitudes toward animals in the United States from 1978 
to 2014," Biological Conservation 201 (9// 2016), https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.07.013, 
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320716302774. 
28 M. J. Manfredo et al., America’s Wildlife Values: The Social Context of Wildlife Management in the U.S.,  (Fort Collins, Colorado: 
Colorado State University, Department of Natural Resources, 2018). 
29 L. E. F. Harrer and T. Levi, "The primacy of bears as seed dispersers in salmon-bearing ecosystems," Article, Ecosphere 9, no. 1 
(Jan 2018), e02076, https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2076, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000425731000024; M. S. Enders and S. B. Vander Wall, 
"Black bears Ursus americanus are effective seed dispersers, with a little help from their friends," Oikos 121, no. 4 (Apr 2012), 
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2011.19710.x, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000301537200013; K. Takahashi and K. Takahashi, "Spatial 
distribution and size of small canopy gaps created by Japanese black bears: estimating gap size using dropped branch 
measurements," Bmc Ecology 13 (Jun 2013), 23, https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6785-13-23, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000322126400001. 
30 K. Slagle et al., "Building tolerance for bears: A communications experiment," Journal of Wildlife Management 77, no. 4 (May 
2013), https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.515, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000318028100022. 
31 Responsive Management, "Americans’ attitudes toward hunting, fishing, sport shooting and trapping 2019," 
https://asafishing.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Americans-Attitudes-Survey-Report-2019.pdf  (2019); Manfredo et al., Short 
America’s Wildlife Values: The Social Context of Wildlife Management in the U.S; George et al., "Changes in attitudes toward 
animals in the United States from 1978 to 2014." 
32 Manfredo et al., Short America’s Wildlife Values: The Social Context of Wildlife Management in the U.S. 
33 No one kill bears just to eat them. Hunters kill so they can engage in “show off” behaviors (Darimont et al. 2017). We define a 
“trophy hunt” as a hunt where a hunter’s primary motivation is to kill an animal to display its parts (that is, their heads, hides or 
claws and even the whole stuffed animal); and for bragging rights (trophy hunters pose over the dead animal with their weapons for 
a portrait often for social media). Their primary motivation is not subsistence. Chris T. Darimont, Brian F. Codding, and Kristen 
Hawkes, "Why men trophy hunt," Biology Letters 13, no. 3 (2017), https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2016.0909, 
http://rsbl.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/roybiolett/13/3/20160909.full.pdf. Chelsea Batavia et al., "The elephant (head) in the 
room: A critical look at trophy hunting," Conservation Letters 0, no. 0 (2018), https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/conl.12565, 
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/conl.12565. 
34 G. M. Koehler and D. J. Pierce, "Survival, cause-specific mortality, sex, and ages of American black bears in Washington state, 
USA," Ursus 16, no. 2 (2005), https://doi.org/10.2192/1537-6176(2005)016[0157:scmsaa]2.0.co;2, <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000233680300002. 
35 Guillaume Chapron and Adrian Treves, "Blood does not buy goodwill: allowing culling increases poaching of a large carnivore," 
Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 283, no. 1830 (2016-05-11 00:00:00 2016), 
https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.2939, http://rspb.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/royprsb/283/1830/20152939.full.pdf. 
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collisions or by poachers before it continues down the path of an annual quota of nearly 1,000 bears.36 In the absence of 
good data and a lack of knowledge about where the bear population is, we suggest that the quota be reduced to 335, a 
number previously set by the agency. 
 
Human persecution of bears such as through trophy hunting and or predator control, is “super-additive,” meaning that 
kill rates exceed naturally-occurring mortalities.37 This is because predator control agents and trophy hunters kill adult 
breeding animals, which disrupts animals’ social structure and leads to indirect effects such as increased infanticide by 
incoming subadult male bears, resulting in decreased recruitment of young.38 NMDGF’s proposed quota fails to 
consider these added human-caused losses as part of its extreme bear quotas. Bears are not resilient to overkill. They 
can only withstand light losses to their populations. 


 
5. Hounding black bears is unethical, scientifically indefensible and unsporting 
 
Americans hold widely divergent standards around wildlife, but most highly value their conservation.39 In numerous 
studies, both the general public and hunters themselves object to hunting activities that are viewed as unfair, 
unsporting, inhumane or unsustainable,40 such as killing bears while they have dependent young or killing the young 
themselves. Many hunting advocates condemn such actions as a violation of the hunter’s ethical code because hunting 
naïve young and bear hounding are not perceived as “fair chase” hunting.  Jim Posewitz explains the concept of “fair 
chase”: “The ethical hunter must make many fair-chase choices . . . luring animals with bait or hunting in certain 
seasons sometimes is viewed as giving unfair advantage to the hunter. . . .  If there is a doubt, advantage must be given 
to the animal being hunted.”41  
 
New Mexico has few limits on hounding, including the numbers of dogs permitted in a bear hunt. The only restriction 
is by some public lands and having a licensed hunter continuously present after the dogs have been released. Hounding, 
or using packs of dogs to pursue bears, is considered unsporting even among many hunters because it gives unfair 
advantage to the hunter.42  
 


 
36 B. J. Bergstrom, "Carnivore conservation: shifting the paradigm from control to coexistence," Journal of Mammalogy 98, no. 1 (Feb 
2017), https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyw185, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000397232500001. Chapron and Treves, "Blood does not buy 
goodwill: allowing culling increases poaching of a large carnivore."; D. E. Unger et al., "History and Current Status of the Black Bear 
in Kentucky," Northeastern Naturalist 20, no. 2 (Jun 2013), https://doi.org/10.1656/045.020.0206, <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000321563700006; Koehler and Pierce, "Survival, cause-specific mortality, sex, and ages of American black bears in 
Washington state, USA." B. N. McLellan et al., "Rates and causes of grizzly bear mortality in the interior mountains of British 
Columbia, Alberta, Montana, Washington, and Idaho," Journal of Wildlife Management 63, no. 3 (Jul 1999), 
https://doi.org/10.2307/3802805, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000081441500017; Caitlin M. Glymph, "Spatially explicit model of areas between 
suitable black bear habitat in east Texas and black bear populations in Louisiana, Arkansas, and Oklahoma" (Masters M.A., Stephen 
F. Austin State University, 2017), https://scholarworks.sfasu.edu/etds/128/; B. J. Wear, R. Eastridge, and J. D. Clark, "Factors affecting 
settling, survival, and viability of black bears reintroduced to Felsenthal National Wildlife Refuge, Arkansas," Wildlife Society 
Bulletin 33, no. 4 (2005), https://doi.org/10.2193/0091-7648(2005)33[1363:FASSAV]2.0.CO;2, 
http://pubs.er.usgs.gov/publication/70027414.   
37 Vucetich et al. 2005, Creel and Rotella 2010, Creel et al. 2015, Darimont et al. 2015. 
38 Wielgus and Bunnell 1995, Creel and Rotella 2010, Wielgus et al. 2013, Ausband et al. 2015, Darimont et al. 2015, Elbroch et al. 
2017a, Leclerc et al. 2017.  
39 Stephen R. Kellert, The Value of Life (Washington, D.C.: Island Press, 1996). 
40 Thomas D. Beck et al., "Sociological and ethical considerations of black bear hunting," Proceedings of the Western Black Bear 
Workshop 5 (1995); T. L. Teel, R. S. Krannich, and R. H. Schmidt, "Utah stakeholders' attitudes toward selected cougar and black 
bear management practices," Wildlife Society Bulletin 30, no. 1 (Spr 2002), <Go to ISI>://000175200100002; C.W. Ryan, J.W. 
Edwards, and M.D. Duda, "West Virginia residents:  Attitudes and opinions toward American black bear hunting," Ursus 2 (2009). 
41 Emphasis added. J. Posewitz, Beyond Fair Chase: The Ethic and Tradition of Hunting (Helena, Montana: Falcon Press, 1994)., p. 
61. 
42 Ryan, Edwards, and Duda, "West Virginia residents:  Attitudes and opinions toward American black bear hunting."; Teel, Krannich, 
and Schmidt, "Utah stakeholders' attitudes toward selected cougar and black bear management practices." 
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While pursuing bears, hounds chase, startle and kill non-target wildlife.43 Dogs may even chase bears into roadways, 
where oncoming vehicles could strike either. Hounds invariably trespass on lands—whether on private land or on 
special refuges such as national parks where hounds are not permitted. This creates strife between landowners and 
hunters.44 Using hounds to chase bears pits dogs against bears, and either species can be injured or killed, particularly if 
the bear is bayed on the ground. Sometimes dogs kill the bears themselves, especially dependent cubs.  
 
Pursuit during hot weather can cause physical stress to both dogs and bears.45 Bears that have engaged in prolonged 
pursuits experience physiological stress because bears’ pelts and fat layer (that they are building in anticipation of 
hibernation) can make them overheat—possibly leading to death or for pregnant bears, the loss of their fetuses. In poor 
food years, pursuing bears with hounds makes bears expend energy they require to survive hibernation. Hounds disrupt 
feeding patterns for bears who are chased and nearby bears who are not.46 
 
If bayed on the ground, hunters cannot identify the sex of the bear, which is a concern if it is a female with dependent 
cubs. If the mother is killed, young-of-the year cubs will die from starvation, exposure or predation.47 In research 
conducted in Maine, houndsmen were ineffective in determining if a female had cubs, because the mother would secure 
her cubs in a separate tree other than the one she occupied.48  
 
The main purpose of hounding is to tree the bears for the purpose of close-range identification and shooting. While 
some argue that hounding is a selective method for choosing the age or sex of an animal,49 researchers who have done 
empirical study contend it is difficult for hunters to determine the age and sex of a treed bear.50 Inman and Vaughan 
(2002) found that houndsmen accurately determined the sex of treed bears 67% of the time. In other words, 
approximately one-third of treed bear were wrongly sexed by houndsmen.51  
 
So many aspects of hounding are unsavory. It causes stress and distress to wildlife, including non-target species, and to 
the hounds themselves. Hounds can kill bear cubs, and hounds can be killed by bears. Hounding disrupts bears when 
they should be foraging and not hiding from hunters in order to survive wintertime hibernation. Hounding can cause 
fertilized females to lose embryos. Neither hounds nor bears sweat; to dissipate heat to prevent damage to their brains, 
they must either pant (which is inefficient) or find a body of water to cool off.52 In short, hounding is an incredibly cruel 
and barbaric sport that should end in New Mexico. 


 
 


 
43 Hank Hristienko and Jr. McDonald, John E., "Going in the 21st century: a perspective on trends and controversies in the 
management of the black bear," Ursus 18, no. 1 (2007). 
44 Hristienko and McDonald, "Going in the 21st century: a perspective on trends and controversies in the management of the black 
bear." 
45 Hristienko and McDonald, "Going in the 21st century: a perspective on trends and controversies in the management of the black 
bear." 
46 Beck et al., "Sociological and ethical considerations of black bear hunting." Ordiz et al., "Do bears know they are being hunted?." 
47 Cubs will stay with their mothers between 14-18 months. Born in the den between January and February, bears leave the den 
usually in late April, but they are not weaned until the months between July and September. The cubs will go back into the den for 
their second winter with their mother. They will stay with her until May – July, when the family breaks up (because the female goes 
back into estrus). Considered subadults at that point, the cubs must find their own home range, which is more difficult of males as 
they have to disperse further from the natal area – to avoid inbreeding.  
48 Beck et al., "Sociological and ethical considerations of black bear hunting." 
49 Hristienko and McDonald, "Going in the 21st century: a perspective on trends and controversies in the management of the black 
bear." 
50 Beck et al., "Sociological and ethical considerations of black bear hunting."; M. C. Boulay, D.H. Jackson, and D.A. Immell, 
"Preliminary assessment of a ballot initiative banning two methods of bear hunting in Oregon:  Effects on bear harvest," Ursus 11 
(1999). 
51 K. H. Inman and M. R. Vaughan, "Hunter effort and success rates of hunting bears with hounds in Virginia," Ursus 13 (2002), <Go 
to ISI>://WOS:000229925700022. 
52 Bernd Heinrich, Why we run: A natural history (Harper Perennial, 2002). 
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6. The climate crisis necessitates a new look at privileging non-lethal approaches over killing 
 
Wildlife management agencies often wrongly presume that an increase in human conflicts is a result of a growing bear 
population, but bears may simply be modifying their behaviors in response to urgent environmental circumstances—a 
lack of food.53 Unless intensively studying a bear population, agencies poorly assess the total mortality that bears 
sustain, and may increase quotas when they should be decreasing them.54 Despite available habitat, bears may not be in 
them because of human presence, or they are unevenly distributed across that state’s particular black bear habitat.55 
 
As Johnson et al. (2018) and others suggest, because North American habitats are altered by human development and 
changed by the climate crisis, wildlife managers must adapt and work to reduce human-bear conflicts, rather than rely 
upon lethal removals.56 The problems associated with a warming climate and bears coming into contact with an 
expanding human population is problematic. When bears must live alongside humans, their chances for survival 
decrease dramatically because of vehicle collisions and agency actions.57 Large native carnivores face extinction58—it is 
incumbent upon wildlife agencies to conserve rather than over-exploit them.  Expanded human development into bear 
habitats during the climate crisis exacerbates bear mortalities, and then agencies react by increasing trophy hunting 
quotas, when they should be reducing overall black bear mortalities.59 
 
The time bears spend in the den is tied to air temperature and food availability (both natural and anthropogenic 
subsidies).60 Study authors found that the warmer the temperatures and the more food is available, the longer the time 
bears will spend active as they maximize their opportunities to forage.61 With a warming climate, black bears reduce 


 
53 H. E. Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-
carnivore conflicts," Article, Journal of Applied Ecology 55, no. 2 (Mar 2018), https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13021, <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000424881800020; H. E. Johnson et al., "Shifting perceptions of risk and reward: Dynamic selection for human 
development by black bears in the western United States," Biological Conservation 187 (Jul 2015), 
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2015.04.014, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000357234100019; M. E. Obbard et al., "Relationships among food 
availability, harvest, and human-bear conflict at landscape scales in Ontario, Canada," Ursus 25, no. 2 (2014), 
https://doi.org/10.2192/ursus-d-13-00018.1, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000347670000002. 
54 Laufenberg et al., "Compounding effects of human development and a natural food shortage on a black bear population along a 
human development-wildland interface."; Welfelt, Beausoleil, and Wielgus, "Factors Associated with black bear density and 
implications for management." 
55 Welfelt, Beausoleil, and Wielgus, "Factors Associated with black bear density and implications for management." 
56 Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-carnivore 
conflicts."; D. L. Lewis et al., "Modeling black bear population dynamics in a human-dominated stochastic environment," Article, 
Ecological Modelling 294 (Dec 2014), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2014.08.021, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000345821100006. 
57 Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-carnivore 
conflicts."; Johnson et al., "Shifting perceptions of risk and reward: Dynamic selection for human development by black bears in the 
western United States."; J. P. Beckmann and J. Berger, "Rapid ecological and behavioural changes in carnivores: the responses of 
black bears (Ursus americanus) to altered food," Journal of Zoology 261 (Oct 2003), https://doi.org/10.1017/s0952836903004126, 
<Go to ISI>://WOS:000186327700010. 
58 J. A. Estes et al., "Trophic Downgrading of Planet Earth," Science 333, no. 6040 (Jul 2011), https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1205106, 
<Go to ISI>://WOS:000292732000031; Chris T. Darimont et al., "The unique ecology of human predators," Science 349, no. 6250 
(2015); William J. Ripple et al., "Extinction risk is most acute for the world’s largest and smallest vertebrates," Proceedings of the 
National Academy of Sciences 114, no. 40 (October 3, 2017 2017), https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1702078114, 
http://www.pnas.org/content/114/40/10678.abstract; Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem 
Services (IPBES), "Nature’s Dangerous Decline ‘Unprecedented’ Species Extinction Rates ‘Accelerating’: Current global response 
insufficient. ‘Transformative changes’ needed to restore and protect nature; Opposition from vested interests can be overcome for 
public good.  Most comprehensive assessment of its kind; 1,000,000 species threatened with extinction." 
59 Laufenberg et al., "Compounding effects of human development and a natural food shortage on a black bear population along a 
human development-wildland interface." 
60 Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-carnivore 
conflicts." 
61 Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-carnivore 
conflicts." 
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their hibernation times and increase their active times, and in coming years, human-bear conflicts will likely become 
more pronounced resulting in greater black bear mortalities, including from hunters and agency removals, resulting in 
greater black bear population declines.62  


Again, black bear biologists warn that managers must limit recreational black bear killing to reduce total mortality, and 
especially during years of poor natural food production, which is readily predicted by weather events.63  
 
To emphasize, the total annual mortality that a black bear population can sustain is only between six and ten percent of 
the population; more than that is simply super additive mortality.64 Female bears rarely migrate—they prefer to live 
near their natal areas, and this compounds the harms from trophy hunting and other sources of mortality that affect 
black bear populations.65 The loss of females reduces a bear population’s ability to bounce back as they are the key to 
sustaining the population.66 
 
7. Food availability plays a large role in the presence of bears in urban areas; human food sources are the root 
cause of human-bear conflicts  
 
In their study of Aspen, Colorado bears, Baruch-Mordo et al. (2014) found that black bears who came to Aspen to 
prevent their starvation because of a native food failure subsequently reversed their behaviors and returned to the 
wilds when their native foods were again available.67 Johnson et al. (2015), in their study of bears in three cities, Tahoe, 
Durango and Aspen, found that bears consistently changed their food-foraging behaviors, based upon food availability. 
In these cities, bears used human foods as a subsidy rather than a staple. They argue that bears who are labeled 
“nuisance”, might not be “problem” bears all of the time. They also suggest that people need to make human foods less 
available to bears, especially in poor food years.68 In short, despite claims that once bears have eaten food in urban areas 
that they are forever tainted, studies show that bears will leave these areas once natural foods are again available.69 
Bears weigh energy budgets and their safety when making decisions about where to forage.70  
 
While some indicate that urban areas serve as a refuge for bears when there are food failures, Aspen, Colorado was not 
a refuge but an “ecological and evolutionary trap.” Because adult females were removed by agency personnel in Aspen, 


 
62 Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-carnivore 
conflicts."; Johnson et al., "Shifting perceptions of risk and reward: Dynamic selection for human development by black bears in the 
western United States."; Lewis et al., "Modeling black bear population dynamics in a human-dominated stochastic environment." 
63 Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-carnivore 
conflicts." 
64 Welfelt, "Black bear population dynamics in the North Cascades." 
65 Laufenberg et al., "Compounding effects of human development and a natural food shortage on a black bear population along a 
human development-wildland interface." 
66 Laufenberg et al., "Compounding effects of human development and a natural food shortage on a black bear population along a 
human development-wildland interface." 
67 S. Baruch-Mordo et al., "Stochasticity in Natural Forage Production Affects Use of Urban Areas by Black Bears: Implications to 
Management of Human-Bear Conflicts," Plos One 9, no. 1 (Jan 2014), e85122, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085122, <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000329862500218. 
68 Johnson et al., "Shifting perceptions of risk and reward: Dynamic selection for human development by black bears in the western 
United States." 
69 J. S. Lewis et al., "Interspecific interactions between wild felids vary across scales and levels of urbanization," Article, Ecology and 
Evolution 5, no. 24 (Dec 2015), https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1812, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000368136600018; Baruch-Mordo et al., 
"Stochasticity in Natural Forage Production Affects Use of Urban Areas by Black Bears: Implications to Management of Human-Bear 
Conflicts." 
70 Lewis et al., "Interspecific interactions between wild felids vary across scales and levels of urbanization."; Baruch-Mordo et al., 
"Stochasticity in Natural Forage Production Affects Use of Urban Areas by Black Bears: Implications to Management of Human-Bear 
Conflicts." 
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it became a black bear population sink.71 In their synthesis article, Elfstrom et al. (2014) suggest that some bears, 
particularly females with cubs and subadults, use urban areas as a calculated trade-off to avoid death from despotic 
larger bears.72  Urban areas are an unsustainable bear sink because so many breeding females are removed in food-poor 
years.73  
 
8. NMDGF cannot successfully hunt its way out of human-bear conflicts 
 
Agencies believe that hunting bears will reduce conflicts with humans. Yet, nine separate studies demonstrate that 
hunting bears will not resolve human-bear conflicts (“HBC”) unless a bear population is reduced to an unsustainable 
level. While policymakers claim that opening or extending bear trophy hunts will result in fewer bears expanding into 
urban areas where they may cause problems,74 studies show that bear hunting will only reduce conflicts in cases where 
the bear population is reduced below sustainable levels.75 Obbard et al. (2014) write:  


 
We found no significant correlations between harvest and subsequent HBC human-bear conflicts. 
Although it may be intuitive to assume that harvesting more bears should reduce HBC, empirical 
support for this assumption is lacking despite considerable research (Garshelis 1989, Treves and 
Karanth 2003, Huygens et al. 2004, Tavss 2005, Treves 2009, Howe et al. 2010, Treves et al. 2010).76  
 


Research clearly demonstrates that black bear hunting simply does not reduce HBC. Pienaar et al. (2015) write: 
 
Members of the public are likely to believe that bear management and alteration of bear behavior are 
the solution to human-bear conflicts. They tend to favor trapping and relocating bears, opening a bear 
hunting season, and improving habitat . . . . In contrast, wildlife management agencies recognize that 
both lethal and non-lethal management of bears tend to be costly, time consuming, and difficult to 
implement in urban locations. Agencies also understand that these measures are ineffective in 
addressing root causes of human-bear conflicts, such as increased development of habitat, diverse 
public attitudes about bear management, and human food conditioning of bears (Peine 2001, Gore et 
al. 2006, Agree and Miller 2009, Don Carlos et al. 2009, Lowery et al. 2012).77  
 


 
71 Baruch-Mordo et al., "Stochasticity in Natural Forage Production Affects Use of Urban Areas by Black Bears: Implications to 
Management of Human-Bear Conflicts," 8. 
72 M. Elfstrom et al., "Ultimate and proximate mechanisms underlying the occurrence of bears close to human settlements: review 
and management implications," Mammal Review 44, no. 1 (Jan 2014), https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.2012.00223.x, <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000327796800002; Marcus Elfström et al., "Does despotic behavior or food search explain the occurrence of problem 
brown bears in Europe?," The Journal of Wildlife Management 78, no. 5 (2014), https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.727, 
http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.727. 
73 Baruch-Mordo et al., "Stochasticity in Natural Forage Production Affects Use of Urban Areas by Black Bears: Implications to 
Management of Human-Bear Conflicts." 
74Hank Hristienko and Jr. McDonald, John E., "Going in the 21st Century: A Perspective on Trends and Controversies in the 
Management of the Black Bear " Ursus 18, no. 1 (2007); A. Treves, K. J. Kapp, and D. M. MacFarland, "American Black Bear Nuisance 
Complaints and Hunter Take," Ursus 21, no. 1 (2010). 
75 M. E. Obbard et al., "Relationships among Food Availability, Harvest, and Human-Bear Conflict at Landscape Scales in Ontario, 
Canada," Ursus 25, no. 2 (2014); E. J. Howe et al., “Do Public Complaints Reflect Trends in Human-Bear Conflict?” Ursus 21, no. 2 
(2010). 
76 Obbard et al., Relationships among Food Availability, Harvest, and Human-Bear Conflict at Landscape Scales in Ontario, Canada." 
77 Elizabeth F. Pienaar, David Telesco, and Sarah Barrett, "Understanding People's Willingness to Implement Measures to Manage 
Human-Bear Conflict in Florida," Journal of Wildlife Management 79, no. 5 (2015)., p. 798. 







 


 
12 


 


Bear hunts do not reduce conflicts because trophy hunters generally remove non-problem bears from the population; 
that is, the individuals not involved in nuisance behaviors.78 Instead, hunters attempt to target large, male bears to 
acquire an impressive trophy,79 but those bears are not the ones living near humans.80 
 
9. Solutions to alleviate human-bear conflicts must be multi-faceted for success  
 
A host of biologists and social scientists suggest that bear aware campaigns must focus on the benefits to society as a 
result of maintaining healthy bear populations, along with co-existence education.81 Tolerance for bears increases when 
residents learn the benefits of bears and have positive interactions with them, whereas intolerance stems from elevated 
risk perceptions, negative interactions and a greater trust in wildlife managers, dominionistic values and age.82  
 
Florida state biologists Barrett et al. (2014) emphasized that in working with homeowners and others, an “all-or-none 
approach” in neighborhoods was necessary to prevent negative human-bear encounters. That is, everyone needed to 
properly use bear-resistant trashcans and prevent attracting bears with other food sources. Barrett et al. (2014) write: 
 


Proactive measures (e.g. securing trash, electrical fencing, education) dealing with human behavior 
are much more efficient than reactive methods (e.g., aversive conditioning, relocation, euthanasia) in 
reducing human-bear incidents because changing or managing human behavior is more likely to 
provide longer-term solutions than managing a wildlife species alone (Baruch-Mordo et al. 2009).83 
 


Studies from Colorado find the same. Everyone must work in concert. That involves providing bear resistant trash cans 
to residents, educating them and using law enforcement against scofflaws.84 
 
Washington’s successful Karelian bear dog program, which is entirely funded with private donations, is a huge success 
and brings great goodwill to that agency.85  
 
Bear conflict mitigation for landowners involves employing commonsense, non-lethal solutions across entire 
landscapes, such as using the right kind of electric fencing around calving and lambing pens, boneyards, stored animal 
feed and around crops. Other strategies include using bear-proof trash receptacles and creating secured dumps in rural 


 
78 A. Treves, K. J. Kapp, and D. M. MacFarland, "American black bear nuisance complaints and hunter take," Ursus 21, no. 1 (2010), 
https://doi.org/10.2192/09gr012.1, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000277602700004; M. Elfström et al., "Ultimate and proximate mechanisms 
underlying the occurrence of bears close to human settlements: review and management implications," Mamm Rev. 44 (2014), 
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.2012.00223.x, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.2012.00223.x. 
79 Darimont, Codding, and Hawkes, "Why men trophy hunt."; Darimont et al., "The unique ecology of human predators." 
80 Elfstrom et al., "Ultimate and proximate mechanisms underlying the occurrence of bears close to human settlements: review and 
management implications." 
81 Slagle et al., "Building tolerance for bears: A communications experiment."; Bruskotter Jeremy T. and Wilson Robyn S., 
"Determining Where the Wild Things will be: Using Psychological Theory to Find Tolerance for Large Carnivores," Conservation 
Letters 7, no. 3 (2014), https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/conl.12072, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/conl.12072; Stacy A. 
Lischka et al., "Understanding and managing human tolerance for a large carnivore in a residential system," Biological Conservation 
238 (2019/10/01/ 2019), https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.07.034, 
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320718316276. 
82 Lischka et al., "Understanding and managing human tolerance for a large carnivore in a residential system." 
83 M. A. Barrett et al., "Testing Bear-Resistant Trash Cans in Residential Areas of Florida," Article, Southeastern Naturalist 13, no. 1 
(Mar 2014), https://doi.org/10.1656/058.013.0102, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000333891100005., p. 36. 
84 Heather Johnson et al., "Assessing Ecological and Social Outcomes of a Bear-Proofing Experiment," The Journal of Wildlife 
Management  (10/01 2018), https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21472. 
85 Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, "Karelian Bear Dog Program," https://wdfw.wa.gov/enforcement/kbd/cash.html; 
https://www.inlander.com/spokane/meet-washington-states-karelian-bear-dogs/Slideshow/2772624  (2018). 
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communities. And perhaps most importantly, cleaning up calving areas and making boneyards inaccessible to native 
carnivores.86  
 
In Yosemite National Park, Breck et al. (2007) used radio collars to trip remote alarms to keep bears successfully out of 
campgrounds.87 
 
Temporary diversionary feeding may even be feasible given inevitable food shortages because of the climate crisis. 
Garshelis et al. (2017) and Elfstrom et al. (2014) have found that diversionary feeding of starving bears is an effective 
tool for reducing and preventing human-bear conflicts. Those foods must be supplied outside of a conflict area, inside a 
bear’s home range, and the food cannot be associated with people.88 Managers should supply foods that are similar to 
natural foods such as fruits and nuts, but avoid long-term feeding, which can grow the population.89  
 
New Mexico cannot kill its way out of human-bear conflicts—to do so would mean black bear extirpation.90 As 
Stringham (2013) suggests, agencies’ policies for black bears and other wildlife such as mountain lions are often too 
rigid and simplistic to conform with modern societal values that prioritize humaneness and conservation over wanton 
killing.91 For instance, he suggests that agencies should not kill bears unless they are a true public safety hazard—and 
not because someone felt frightened when they saw one.92 


 
While food is the root cause of most negative human-bear interactions, Herrero et al. (2011) write: “Each year, millions 
of interactions between people and black bears occur without any injury to a person, although by 2 years of age most 
black bears have the physical capacity to kill a person.”93   
 
10. Black bears are an important umbrella species and ecological actors who increase biodiversity  


 
Black bears are important in maintaining the ecological systems in their forests. They disperse seeds across vast 
distances—even more seeds than birds,94 open up canopies, and amend soils through their various behaviors. Black 
bears eat fruits and deposit them across long distances (and mice assist by removing the seeds from bear feces, where 
they would otherwise mildew, and cache them in soil where some will grow).95 Bears cause small-scale ecological 
disturbance to the canopy that allows sun to filter to the forest floor, which creates greater biological diversity.96 Bears 


 
86 S. M. Wilson, E. H. Bradley, and G. A. Neudecker, "Learning to live with wolves: community-based conservation in the Blackfoot 
Valley of Montana," Article, Human-Wildlife Interactions 11, no. 3 (Win 2017), <Go to ISI>://WOS:000422844800010. 
87 S. W. Breck et al., "An automated system for detecting and reporting trespassing bears in Yosemite National Park," Ursus 18, no. 2 
(2007), https://doi.org/10.2192/1537-6176(2007)18[230:aasfda]2.0.co;2, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000251772900010. Oscar C. Huygens and 
Hidetake Hayashi, "Using electric fences to reduce Asiatic black bear depredation in Nagano Prefecture, Central Japan," Wildlife 
Society Bulletin 27, no. 4 (1999). 
88 D. L. Garshelis et al., "Is diversionary feeding an effective tool for reducing human-bear conflicts? Case studies from North America 
and Europe," Article, Ursus 28, no. 1 (2017), https://doi.org/10.2192/ursu-d-16-00019.1, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000409564500004; Elfstrom 
et al., "Ultimate and proximate mechanisms underlying the occurrence of bears close to human settlements: review and management 
implications." 
89 Garshelis et al., "Is diversionary feeding an effective tool for reducing human-bear conflicts? Case studies from North America and 
Europe." 
90 E. J. Howe et al., "Do public complaints reflect trends in human-bear conflict?," Ursus 21, no. 2 (2010), 
https://doi.org/10.2192/09gr013.1, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000284520900001; Obbard et al., "Relationships among food availability, 
harvest, and human-bear conflict at landscape scales in Ontario, Canada." 
91 Stephen R. Stringham, "Managing risk from bears and other potentially lethal wildlife: predictability, accountability, and liability," 
Human-Wildlife Interactions 7, no. 1 (2013). 
92 Stringham, "Managing risk from bears and other potentially lethal wildlife: predictability, accountability, and liability." 
93 S. Herrero et al., "Fatal Attacks by American Black Bear on People: 1900-2009," Journal of Wildlife Management 75, no. 3 (Apr 
2011): 599, https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.72, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000291007800015. 
94 Harrer and Levi, "The primacy of bears as seed dispersers in salmon-bearing ecosystems." 
95 Enders and Vander Wall, "Black bears Ursus americanus are effective seed dispersers, with a little help from their friends." 
96 Takahashi and Takahashi, "Spatial distribution and size of small canopy gaps created by Japanese black bears: estimating gap size 
using dropped branch measurements."  
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break logs while grubbing, which helps the decomposition process and facilitates the return of nutrients to the soil. In 
one study, researchers found that black bears were the dominant species moving salmon from streams into riparian 
zones. Bears ate about half of the salmon, leaving remnants which contributed to greater tree ring growth. They also 
found higher plant growth along the riparian areas where bear trails existed and where bears’ urine deposit was high.97 


 
11. Conclusion 


 
The Commission must appreciate the massive contributions bears make to conserving the biological diversity of their 
forest ecosystems. They are highly sentient and deserving of their intrinsic rights to live and not be harassed by trophy 
hunters and packs of hounds. We ask the Commission to reject the proposed rule and instead reduce the state’s entire 
quota to 335, consistent with prior and better-supported quotas in the state.  
 
If you need access to any of the studies cited herein, please contact me at the email address below. 


 
 
Sincerely, 


 
Wendy Keefover 
Senior Strategist, Native Carnivore Protection  
The Humane Society of the United States 
wkeefover@humanesociety.org 
720-437-0394 
  


 
97 T. E. Reimchen and C. H. Fox, "Fine-scale spatiotemporal influences of salmon on growth and nitrogen signatures of Sitka spruce 
tree rings," Bmc Ecology 13 (Oct 2013), 38, https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6785-13-38, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000325284000001. 







 


 
15 


 


Bibliography 
 
Artelle, Kyle A., John D. Reynolds, Adrian Treves, Jessica C. Walsh, Paul C. Paquet, and Chris T. Darimont. "Hallmarks 


of Science Missing from North American Wildlife Management." Science Advances 4, no. 3 (2018). 
https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aao0167. 
http://advances.sciencemag.org/content/advances/4/3/eaao0167.full.pdf. 


Barrett, M. A., D. J. Telesco, S. E. Barrett, K. M. Widness, and E. H. Leone. "Testing Bear-Resistant Trash Cans in 
Residential Areas of Florida." [In English]. Article. Southeastern Naturalist 13, no. 1 (Mar 2014): 26-39. 
https://doi.org/10.1656/058.013.0102. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000333891100005. 


Baruch-Mordo, S., K. R. Wilson, D. L. Lewis, J. Broderick, J. S. Mao, and S. W. Breck. "Stochasticity in Natural Forage 
Production Affects Use of Urban Areas by Black Bears: Implications to Management of Human-Bear Conflicts." 
Plos One 9, no. 1 (Jan 2014): e85122. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085122. <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000329862500218. 


Batavia, Chelsea, Michael Paul Nelson, Chris T. Darimont, Paul C. Paquet, William J. Ripple, and Arian D. Wallach. "The 
Elephant (Head) in the Room: A Critical Look at Trophy Hunting." Conservation Letters 0, no. 0 (2018): 
e12565. https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/conl.12565. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/conl.12565. 


Beck, Thomas D., David S. Moody, Donald B. Koch, John J. Beecham, Gary R. Olson, and Timothy Burton. "Sociological 
and Ethical Considerations of Black Bear Hunting." Proceedings of the Western Black Bear Workshop 5 
(1995): 119-31. 


Beckmann, J. P., and J. Berger. "Rapid Ecological and Behavioural Changes in Carnivores: The Responses of Black Bears 
(Ursus Americanus) to Altered Food." Journal of Zoology 261 (Oct 2003): 207-12. 
https://doi.org/10.1017/s0952836903004126. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000186327700010. 


Bergstrom, B. J. "Carnivore Conservation: Shifting the Paradigm from Control to Coexistence." Journal of Mammalogy 
98, no. 1 (Feb 2017): 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyw185. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000397232500001. 


Boulay, M. C., D.H. Jackson, and D.A. Immell. "Preliminary Assessment of a Ballot Initiative Banning Two Methods of 
Bear Hunting in Oregon:  Effects on Bear Harvest." Ursus 11 (1999): 179-84. 


Breck, S. W., N. Lance, J. Bourassal, S. Matthews, and V. Seher. "An Automated System for Detecting and Reporting 
Trespassing Bears in Yosemite National Park." Ursus 18, no. 2 (2007): 230-35. https://doi.org/10.2192/1537-
6176(2007)18[230:aasfda]2.0.co;2. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000251772900010. 


Cattet, M., J. Boulanger, G. Stenhouse, R. A. Powell, and M. L. Reynolds-Hogland. "An Evaluation of Long-Term 
Capture Effects in Ursids: Implications for Wildlife Welfare and Research." [In English]. Article. Journal of 
Mammalogy 89, no. 4 (Aug 2008): 973-90. https://doi.org/10.1644/08-mamm-a-095.1. <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000258765000019. 


Chapron, Guillaume, and Adrian Treves. "Blood Does Not Buy Goodwill: Allowing Culling Increases Poaching of a Large 
Carnivore." Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 283, no. 1830 (2016-05-11 
00:00:00 2016). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.2939. 
http://rspb.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/royprsb/283/1830/20152939.full.pdf. 


Costello, C. M., S. R. Creel, S. T. Kalinowski, N. V. Vu, and H. B. Quigley. "Sex-Biased Natal Dispersal and Inbreeding 
Avoidance in American Black Bears as Revealed by Spatial Genetic Analyses." Molecular Ecology 17, no. 21 
(Nov 2008): 4713-23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2008.03930.x. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000260345200012. 


Costello, C. M., K. H. Inman, D. E. Jones, R. M. Inman, B. C. Thompson, and H. B. Quigley. "Reliability of the 
Cementum Annuli Technique for Estimating Age of Black Bears in New Mexico." Wildlife Society Bulletin 32, 
no. 1 (Spr 2004): 169-76. https://doi.org/10.2193/0091-7648(2004)32[169:rotcat]2.0.co;2. <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000221035300019. 


Costello, C. M., D. E. Jones, K.A. Hammond, K. H. Inman, B. C. Thompson, R.A. Deitner, and H.B. Quigley. "A Study of 
Black Bear Ecology in New Mexico with Models for Population Dynamics and Habitat Suitability: Final Report: 
Federal Aid in Wildlife Restoration Project W-131-R.". New Mexico Department of Game and Fish  (2001). 


Costello, Cecily M., Donald E. Jones, Robert M. Inman, Kristine H. Inman, Bruce C. Thompson, and Howard B. Quigley. 
"Relationship of Variable Mast Production to American Black Bear Reproductive Parameters in New Mexico." 
Ursus 14, no. 1 (2003): 1-16. https://doi.org/10.2307/3872951. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3872951. 


Cougar Management Guidelines. Cougar Management Guidelines. Bainbridge Island, WA: WildFutures, 2005. 







 


 
16 


 


Darimont, Chris T., Brian F. Codding, and Kristen Hawkes. "Why Men Trophy Hunt." Biology Letters 13, no. 3 (2017): 
http://rsbl.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/13/3/20160909. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2016.0909. 
http://rsbl.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/roybiolett/13/3/20160909.full.pdf. 


Darimont, Chris T., Caroline H. Fox, Heather M. Bryan, and Thomas E. Reimchen. "The Unique Ecology of Human 
Predators." Science 349, no. 6250 (2015): 858-60. 


Dobey, S., D. V. Masters, B. K. Scheick, J. D. Clark, M. R. Pelton, and M. E. Sunquist. "Ecology of Florida Black Bears in 
the Okefenokee-Osceola Ecosystem." Wildlife Monographs, no. 158 (Jan 2005): 1-41. <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000228658000001. 


Elfström, M., A. Zedrosser, O. -. G. Støen, and J. E. Swenson. "Ultimate and Proximate Mechanisms Underlying the 
Occurrence of Bears Close to Human Settlements: Review and Management Implications." Mamm Rev. 44 
(2014). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.2012.00223.x. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.2012.00223.x. 


Elfstrom, M., A. Zedrosser, O. G. Stoen, and J. E. Swenson. "Ultimate and Proximate Mechanisms Underlying the 
Occurrence of Bears Close to Human Settlements: Review and Management Implications." Mammal Review 
44, no. 1 (Jan 2014): 5-18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.2012.00223.x. <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000327796800002. 


Elfström, Marcus, Andreas Zedrosser, Klemen Jerina, Ole-Gunnar Støen, Jonas Kindberg, Lara Budic, Marko Jonozovič, 
and Jon E. Swenson. "Does Despotic Behavior or Food Search Explain the Occurrence of Problem Brown Bears 
in Europe?". The Journal of Wildlife Management 78, no. 5 (2014): 881-93. https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.727. 
http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.727. 


Enders, M. S., and S. B. Vander Wall. "Black Bears Ursus Americanus Are Effective Seed Dispersers, with a Little Help 
from Their Friends." Oikos 121, no. 4 (Apr 2012): 589-96. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2011.19710.x. 
<Go to ISI>://WOS:000301537200013. 


Estes, J. A., J. Terborgh, J. S. Brashares, M. E. Power, J. Berger, W. J. Bond, S. R. Carpenter, et al. "Trophic Downgrading 
of Planet Earth." Science 333, no. 6040 (Jul 2011): 301-06. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1205106. <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000292732000031. 


Garshelis, D. L., S. Baruch-Mordo, A. Bryant, K. A. Gunther, and K. Jerina. "Is Diversionary Feeding an Effective Tool for 
Reducing Human-Bear Conflicts? Case Studies from North America and Europe." [In English]. Article. Ursus 
28, no. 1 (2017): 31-55. https://doi.org/10.2192/ursu-d-16-00019.1. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000409564500004. 


Garshelis, D. L., and H. Hristienko. "State and Provincial Estimates of American Black Bear Numbers Versus 
Assessments of Population Trend." Ursus 17, no. 1 (2006): 1-7. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000237130100001. 


George, Kelly A., Kristina M. Slagle, Robyn S. Wilson, Steven J. Moeller, and Jeremy T. Bruskotter. "Changes in 
Attitudes toward Animals in the United States from 1978 to 2014." Biological Conservation 201 (9// 2016): 
237-42. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.07.013. 
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320716302774. 


Gittleman, John L. "Carnivore Life History Patterns: Allometric, Phylogenetic, and Ecological Associations." 127, no. 6 
(1986): 744-71. https://doi.org/10.1086/284523. https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/abs/10.1086/284523. 


Glymph, Caitlin M. "Spatially Explicit Model of Areas between Suitable Black Bear Habitat in East Texas and Black Bear 
Populations in Louisiana, Arkansas, and Oklahoma." Masters M.A., Stephen F. Austin State University, 2017. 
https://scholarworks.sfasu.edu/etds/128/. 


Gould, M.J., III Cain, J.W., G.W. Roemer, W.R. Gould, and S.G. Liley. "Estimating Density of American Black Bears 
(Ursus Americanus) in New Mexico Using Noninvastive Genetic Sampling-Based Capture-Recapture 
Methods." http://www.wildlife.state.nm.us/download/hunting/species/bear/publications/Estimating-Black-
Bear-Density-in-New-Mexico-Gould-etal-2016.pdf  (2016). 


Harrer, L. E. F., and T. Levi. "The Primacy of Bears as Seed Dispersers in Salmon-Bearing Ecosystems." [In English]. 
Article. Ecosphere 9, no. 1 (Jan 2018): 15 e02076. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2076. <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000425731000024. 


Heinrich, Bernd. Why We Run: A Natural History. Harper Perennial, 2002. 
Herrero, S., A. Higgins, J. E. Cardoza, L. I. Hajduk, and T. S. Smith. "Fatal Attacks by American Black Bear on People: 


1900-2009." Journal of Wildlife Management 75, no. 3 (Apr 2011): 596-603. https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.72. 
<Go to ISI>://WOS:000291007800015. 







 


 
17 


 


Howe, E. J., M. E. Obbard, R. Black, and L. L. Wall. "Do Public Complaints Reflect Trends in Human-Bear Conflict?". 
Ursus 21, no. 2 (2010): 131-42. https://doi.org/10.2192/09gr013.1. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000284520900001. 


Hristienko, Hank, and Jr. McDonald, John E. "Going in the 21st Century: A Perspective on Trends and Controversies in 
the Management of the Black Bear." Ursus 18, no. 1 (2007): 72-88. 


Huygens, Oscar C., and Hidetake Hayashi. "Using Electric Fences to Reduce Asiatic Black Bear Depredation in Nagano 
Prefecture, Central Japan." Wildlife Society Bulletin 27, no. 4 (1999): 959-64. 


Inman, K. H., and M. R. Vaughan. "Hunter Effort and Success Rates of Hunting Bears with Hounds in Virginia." Ursus 
13 (2002): 223-30. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000229925700022. 


Inman, R. M., C. M. Costello, D. E. Jones, K. H. Inman, B. C. Thompson, and H. B. Quigley. "Denning Chronology and 
Design of Effective Bear Management Units." Journal of Wildlife Management 71, no. 5 (Jul 2007): 1476-83. 
https://doi.org/10.2193/2006-252. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000248027800012. 


Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES). "Nature’s Dangerous 
Decline ‘Unprecedented’ Species Extinction Rates ‘Accelerating’: Current Global Response Insufficient. 
‘Transformative Changes’ Needed to Restore and Protect Nature; Opposition from Vested Interests Can Be 
Overcome for Public Good.  Most Comprehensive Assessment of Its Kind; 1,000,000 Species Threatened with 
Extinction." news release, May 6, 2019, 2019. 


Johnson, H. E., S. W. Breck, S. Baruch-Mordo, D. L. Lewis, C. W. Lackey, K. R. Wilson, J. Broderick, J. S. Mao, and J. P. 
Beckmann. "Shifting Perceptions of Risk and Reward: Dynamic Selection for Human Development by Black 
Bears in the Western United States." Biological Conservation 187 (Jul 2015): 164-72. 
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2015.04.014. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000357234100019. 


Johnson, H. E., D. L. Lewis, T. L. Verzuh, C. F. Wallace, R. M. Much, L. K. Willmarth, and S. W. Breck. "Human 
Development and Climate Affect Hibernation in a Large Carnivore with Implications for Human-Carnivore 
Conflicts." [In English]. Article. Journal of Applied Ecology 55, no. 2 (Mar 2018): 663-72. 
https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13021. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000424881800020. 


Johnson, Heather, David Lewis, Stacy Lischka, and Stewart Breck. "Assessing Ecological and Social Outcomes of a Bear-
Proofing Experiment." The Journal of Wildlife Management  (10/01 2018). https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21472. 


Kellert, Stephen R. The Value of Life. Washington, D.C.: Island Press, 1996. 
Koehler, G. M., and D. J. Pierce. "Survival, Cause-Specific Mortality, Sex, and Ages of American Black Bears in 


Washington State, USA." Ursus 16, no. 2 (2005): 157-66. https://doi.org/10.2192/1537-
6176(2005)016[0157:scmsaa]2.0.co;2. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000233680300002. 


Laufenberg, Jared S., Heather E. Johnson, Paul F. Doherty, and Stewart W. Breck. "Compounding Effects of Human 
Development and a Natural Food Shortage on a Black Bear Population Along a Human Development-Wildland 
Interface." Biological Conservation 224 (2018/08/01/ 2018): 188-98. 
https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.05.004. 
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320717317093. 


Lewis, D. L., S. W. Breck, K. R. Wilson, and C. T. Webb. "Modeling Black Bear Population Dynamics in a Human-
Dominated Stochastic Environment." [In English]. Article. Ecological Modelling 294 (Dec 2014): 51-58. 
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2014.08.021. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000345821100006. 


Lewis, J. S., L. L. Bailey, S. VandeWoude, and K. R. Crooks. "Interspecific Interactions between Wild Felids Vary across 
Scales and Levels of Urbanization." [In English]. Article. Ecology and Evolution 5, no. 24 (Dec 2015): S946-S61. 
https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1812. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000368136600018. 


Lischka, Stacy A., Tara L. Teel, Heather E. Johnson, and Kevin R. Crooks. "Understanding and Managing Human 
Tolerance for a Large Carnivore in a Residential System." Biological Conservation 238 (2019/10/01/ 2019): 
108189. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.07.034. 
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320718316276. 


Manfredo, M. J., L. Sullivan, A.W. Don Carlos, A. M. Dietsch, T. L. Teel, A.D. Bright, and J. Bruskotter. America’s 
Wildlife Values: The Social Context of Wildlife Management in the U.S. Fort Collins, Colorado: Colorado State 
University, Department of Natural Resources, 2018. 


Mazur, Rachel, and Victoria Seher. "Socially Learned Foraging Behaviour in Wild Black Bears, Ursus Americanus." 
Animal Behaviour 75, no. 4 (2008/04/01/ 2008): 1503-08. 







 


 
18 


 


https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2007.10.027. 
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003347208000213. 


McLaughlin, Craig. "Black Bear Assessment and Strategic Plan." Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife  
(1999). 


McLellan, B. N., F. W. Hovey, R. D. Mace, J. G. Woods, D. W. Carney, M. L. Gibeau, W. L. Wakkinen, and W. F. 
Kasworm. "Rates and Causes of Grizzly Bear Mortality in the Interior Mountains of British Columbia, Alberta, 
Montana, Washington, and Idaho." Journal of Wildlife Management 63, no. 3 (Jul 1999): 911-20. 
https://doi.org/10.2307/3802805. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000081441500017. 


Nelson, Michael P., J.A. Vucetich, P.C. Paquet, and JK Bump. "An Inadequate Construct?  North American Model:  
What's Missing, What's Needed." The Wildlife Professional, no. Summer 2011 (2011): 58-60. 


Obbard, M. E., E. J. Howe, L. L. Wall, B. Allison, R. Black, P. Davis, L. Dix-Gibson, M. Gatt, and M. N. Hall. 
"Relationships among Food Availability, Harvest, and Human-Bear Conflict at Landscape Scales in Ontario, 
Canada." Ursus 25, no. 2 (2014): 98-110. https://doi.org/10.2192/ursus-d-13-00018.1. <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000347670000002. 


Onorato, D. P., E. C. Hellgren, R. A. Van Den Bussche, and D. L. Doan-Crider. "Phylogeographic Patterns within a 
Metapopulation of Black Bears (Ursus Americanus) in the American Southwest." [In English]. Article. Journal 
of Mammalogy 85, no. 1 (Feb 2004): 140-47. https://doi.org/10.1644/1545-
1542(2004)085<0140:ppwamo>2.0.co;2. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000220140300022. 


Ordiz, A., O. G. Stoen, S. Saebo, J. Kindberg, M. Delibes, and J. E. Swenson. "Do Bears Know They Are Being Hunted?". 
Biological Conservation 152 (Aug 2012): 21-28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocom.2012.04.006. <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000307088200003. 


Pienaar, Elizabeth F., David Telesco, and Sarah Barrett. "Understanding People's Willingness to Implement Measures 
to Manage Human-Bear Conflict in Florida." Journal of Wildlife Management 79, no. 5 (2015): 798-806. 


Posewitz, J. Beyond Fair Chase: The Ethic and Tradition of Hunting. Helena, Montana: Falcon Press, 1994. 
Program, U.S. Global Change Research. "Impacts, Risks, and Adaptation in the United States: Fourth National Climate 


Assessment, Volume Ii ", https://nca2018.globalchange.gov/chapter/front-matter-about/#(2018). 
Reimchen, T. E., and C. H. Fox. "Fine-Scale Spatiotemporal Influences of Salmon on Growth and Nitrogen Signatures 


of Sitka Spruce Tree Rings." Bmc Ecology 13 (Oct 2013): 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6785-13-38. <Go to 
ISI>://WOS:000325284000001. 


Reimchen, T. E., and M. A. Spoljaric. "Right Paw Foraging Bias in Wild Black Bear (Ursus Americanus Kermodei)." 
Laterality: Asymmetries of Body, Brain and Cognition 16, no. 4 (2011/07/01 2011): 471-78. 
https://doi.org/10.1080/1357650X.2010.485202. https://doi.org/10.1080/1357650X.2010.485202. 


Responsive Management. "Americans’ Attitudes toward Hunting, Fishing, Sport Shooting and Trapping 2019." 
https://asafishing.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Americans-Attitudes-Survey-Report-2019.pdf  (2019). 


Ripple, William J., Christopher Wolf, Thomas M. Newsome, Michael Hoffmann, Aaron J. Wirsing, and Douglas J. 
McCauley. "Extinction Risk Is Most Acute for the World’s Largest and Smallest Vertebrates." Proceedings of 
the National Academy of Sciences 114, no. 40 (October 3, 2017 2017): 10678-83. 
https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1702078114. http://www.pnas.org/content/114/40/10678.abstract. 


Ryan, C.W., J.W. Edwards, and M.D. Duda. "West Virginia Residents:  Attitudes and Opinions toward American Black 
Bear Hunting." Ursus 2 (2009): 131-42. 


Slagle, K., R. Zajac, J. Bruskotter, R. Wilson, and S. Prange. "Building Tolerance for Bears: A Communications 
Experiment." Journal of Wildlife Management 77, no. 4 (May 2013): 863-69. https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.515. 
<Go to ISI>://WOS:000318028100022. 


Stringham, Stephen R. "Managing Risk from Bears and Other Potentially Lethal Wildlife: Predictability, Accountability, 
and Liability." Human-Wildlife Interactions 7, no. 1 (2013): 5-9. 


T., Bruskotter Jeremy, and Wilson Robyn S. "Determining Where the Wild Things Will Be: Using Psychological Theory 
to Find Tolerance for Large Carnivores." Conservation Letters 7, no. 3 (2014): 158-65. 
https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/conl.12072. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/conl.12072. 


Takahashi, K., and K. Takahashi. "Spatial Distribution and Size of Small Canopy Gaps Created by Japanese Black Bears: 
Estimating Gap Size Using Dropped Branch Measurements." Bmc Ecology 13 (Jun 2013): 23. 
https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6785-13-23. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000322126400001. 







 


 
19 


 


Teel, T. L., R. S. Krannich, and R. H. Schmidt. "Utah Stakeholders' Attitudes toward Selected Cougar and Black Bear 
Management Practices." Wildlife Society Bulletin 30, no. 1 (Spr 2002): 2-15. <Go to ISI>://000175200100002. 


Treves, A., K. J. Kapp, and D. M. MacFarland. "American Black Bear Nuisance Complaints and Hunter Take." Ursus 21, 
no. 1 (2010): 30-42. https://doi.org/10.2192/09gr012.1. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000277602700004. 


Unger, D. E., J. J. Cox, H. B. Harris, J. L. Larkin, B. Augustine, S. Dobey, J. M. Guthrie, et al. "History and Current Status 
of the Black Bear in Kentucky." Northeastern Naturalist 20, no. 2 (Jun 2013): 289-308. 
https://doi.org/10.1656/045.020.0206. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000321563700006. 


Vonk, Jennifer, and Michael J. Beran. "Bears ‘Count’ Too: Quantity Estimation and Comparison in Black Bears, Ursus 
Americanus." Animal Behaviour 84, no. 1 (2012/07/01/ 2012): 231-38. 
https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.05.001. 
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003347212002126. 


Vonk, Jennifer, Stephanie E. Jett, and Kelly W. Mosteller. "Concept Formation in American Black Bears, Ursus 
Americanus." Animal Behaviour 84, no. 4 (2012/10/01/ 2012): 953-64. 
https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.07.020. 
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003347212003284. 


Wallach, A. D., I. Izhaki, J. D. Toms, W. J. Ripple, and U. Shanas. "What Is an Apex Predator?". Oikos 124, no. 11 (Nov 
2015): 1453-61. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.01977. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000363866900005. 


Wear, B. J., R. Eastridge, and J. D. Clark. "Factors Affecting Settling, Survival, and Viability of Black Bears Reintroduced 
to Felsenthal National Wildlife Refuge, Arkansas." Wildlife Society Bulletin 33, no. 4 (2005): 1363-74. 
https://doi.org/10.2193/0091-7648(2005)33[1363:FASSAV]2.0.CO;2. 
http://pubs.er.usgs.gov/publication/70027414. 


Weaver, J. L., P. C. Paquet, and L. F. Ruggiero. "Resilience and Conservation of Large Carnivores in the Rocky 
Mountains." Conservation Biology 10, no. 4 (Aug 1996): 964-76. <Go to ISI>://A1996VC10300014. 


Welfelt, Lindsay, Richard Beausoleil, and Robert Wielgus. "Factors Associated with Black Bear Density and Implications 
for Management." The Journal of Wildlife Management  (08/25 2019). https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21744. 


Welfelt, Lindsay Suzanne. "Black Bear Population Dynamics in the North Cascades." Doctor of Philosophy Dissertation, 
Washington State University, 2018. 
https://search.proquest.com/openview/ec18d4337882347c86cd2eeb2a69ebd0/1.pdf?pq-
origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y. 


Wildlife, Washington Department of Fish and. "Karelian Bear Dog Program." 
https://wdfw.wa.gov/enforcement/kbd/cash.html; https://www.inlander.com/spokane/meet-washington-states-
karelian-bear-dogs/Slideshow/2772624  (2018). 


Wilson, S. M., E. H. Bradley, and G. A. Neudecker. "Learning to Live with Wolves: Community-Based Conservation in 
the Blackfoot Valley of Montana." [In English]. Article. Human-Wildlife Interactions 11, no. 3 (Win 2017): 245-
57. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000422844800010. 


Zack, Conrad S., Bruce T. Milne, and William C. Dunn. "Southern Oscillation Index as an Indicator of Encounters 
between Humans and Black Bears in New Mexico." Wildlife Society Bulletin (1973-2006) 31, no. 2 (2003): 517-
20. https://doi.org/10.2307/3784333. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3784333. 


 
 







 

 

 
Fight for all animals. The Humane Society of the United States is the nation’s most effective animal protection organization,
fighting for all animals for more than 60 years. To support our work, please make a monthly donation, give in another way or
volunteer.

 

        
 
 

https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/DYUWCR60A4TPnY3sPj9T7?domain=secure.humanesociety.org
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/1Z7uCVOkG8Hj0BpsJ8hmU?domain=humanesociety.org
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/gHVKCW6lJgTwz3nfmKe4y?domain=humanesociety.org
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/akHCCXD0KjI7BALC9yPkC?domain=facebook.com
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/iMM5CYEnLkiokYyC3F1r6?domain=twitter.com
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/HgzHCZ6oMlTnPvWUNfFaG?domain=blog.humanesociety.org


From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fwd: [EXT] Lion Trapping
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 3:23:58 PM

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone

-------- Original message --------
From: shelly thedford 
Date: 9/18/19 1:34 PM (GMT-07:00)
To: David Soules , "Lopez, Tirzio, DGF"
<Tirzio.Lopez@state.nm.us>, "Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF" <Jeremy.Vesbach@state.nm.us>,
"R.Salizar-Henry" <r.salizar-henry@state.nm.us>, "Prukop, Joanna, DGF"
<Joanna.Prukop@state.nm.us>, "Bates, Jimmy, DGF" <Jimmy.Bates@state.nm.us>, "Cramer,
Gail, DGF" <Gail.Cramer@state.nm.us>
Subject: [EXT] Lion Trapping

As a New Mexico Trapper I am offended by the very laxed use of the word recreational
trapping. I don’t trap as just a little thing to do. I trap to help my rancher protect his livestock.
You are making it where my rancher can’t call me to take a lion off his property. I have to tell
him how sorry I am, but I will need to release this lion and you will have to call an already
over loaded game and fish officer to take care of this, so let’s just watch this lion continue take
your cattle down until someone can get hear. The facts that you are missing, and mind you it’s
very important. As a trapper I purchase a lion tag to trap...and hear it is, the facts, read
carefully!! #1 I purchase the tag. #2 I can only take 2 lion per trapping season. Not 30, not 15,
not 45. 2!! #3 I can only take them on private and State Trust Land. I don’t have access to all
public land to use my lion tags like houndsman or hunter. #4 I can only trap from November
to March. 
You are taking away a tool for me and my rancher. 

Thank You, 
Shelly Thedford

Sent from Yahoo Mail for iPhone

mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/HKKBCVOkG8H9Kl9iG2RQX?domain=overview.mail.yahoo.com


From:
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fwd: [EXT] Proposed changes to Bear and cougar rules
Date: Monday, September 23, 2019 1:16:18 PM

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone

-------- Original message --------
From: cal jaeger 
Date: 9/22/19 2:41 PM (GMT-07:00)
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules <DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us>
Cc: "Prukop, Joanna, DGF" <Joanna.Prukop@state.nm.us>, "Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF"
<R.Salazar-Henry@state.nm.us>, "Bates, Jimmy, DGF" <Jimmy.Bates@state.nm.us>,
"Cramer, Gail, DGF" <Gail.Cramer@state.nm.us>, "Lopez, Tirzio, DGF"
<Tirzio.Lopez@state.nm.us>, "Soules, David, DGF" <David.Soules@state.nm.us>, "Vesbach,
Jeremy, DGF" <Jeremy.Vesbach@state.nm.us>
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
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